
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
 

 x  
ROGER EMERSON, MARY EMERSON, 
ROBERT CAPLIN and MARTHA J. 
GOODLETT, Individually and on Behalf of 
All Others Similarly Situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

MUTUAL FUND SERIES TRUST, 
CATALYST CAPITAL ADVISORS LLC, 
NORTHERN LIGHTS DISTRIBUTORS LLC, 
JERRY SZILAGYI, TOBIAS CALDWELL, 
TIBERIU WEISZ, BERT PARISER, ERIK 
NAVILOFF and EDWARD WALCZAK, 

Defendants. 
 
 

: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
: 
x 

Civil Action No. 17-CV-02565-ADS-GRB 

CLASS ACTION 

AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR 
VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT 
OF 1933 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 
 
 

Case 2:17-cv-02565-ADS-GRB   Document 61   Filed 03/30/18   Page 1 of 63 PageID #: 620



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

 

RELEVANT FINANCIAL TERMS .................................................................................. iv 

I.  INTRODUCTION & NATURE OF THE ACTION ...........................................................2 

A.  The Catalyst Futures Fund, Investment Objectives & Strategies ............................3 

B.  The Fund’s Offering Documents Were Materially Untrue and Misleading 
Because the Fund Took Massive Short Positions in the S&P 500 ..........................5 

C.  In February 2017, the Fund Experienced a “Melt Down” Due Its Risky 
Trading Positions .....................................................................................................6 

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE ..........................................................................................8 

III.  THE PARTIES.....................................................................................................................8 

A.  Plaintiffs ...................................................................................................................8 

B.  Corporate Defendants ..............................................................................................9 

C.  Individual Defendants ............................................................................................10 

IV.  SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS ...................................................................................11 

A.  The Catalyst Futures Fund and Relevant SEC Filings ...........................................11 

B.  The Catalyst Futures Fund Began as a Hedge Fund ..............................................14 

C.  The Fund’s Stated Investment Objective and Investment Strategy Were 
Untrue and Misleading ...........................................................................................15 

1.  The Fund’s Stated Investment Objectives & Strategies ............................16 

2.  According to the Offering Documents, The Fund Could Write 
Only Low-Risk Covered Call Options .......................................................18 

3.  The Fund Invested in High-Risk Uncovered Written Call Options 
and Could Not Meet Its Stated Investment Objectives ..............................19 

a.  Analysis of the Fund’s March 31, 2016 Portfolio of 
Investments ....................................................................................21 

b.  Analysis of the Fund’s September 30, 2014 Portfolio of 
Investments ....................................................................................22 

Case 2:17-cv-02565-ADS-GRB   Document 61   Filed 03/30/18   Page 2 of 63 PageID #: 621



 

 

Page 

 

-ii- 
 

c.  Analysis of the Fund’s December 31, 2015 Portfolio of 
Investments ....................................................................................23 

d.  The Fund’s Stated Investment Objectives and Strategies 
Were Misleading ............................................................................24 

D.  The Fund Became Too Big to Employ its Trading Strategy .................................26 

E.  The Fund’s Risk Controls Were Misleading .........................................................28 

F.  The Fund Crashed as the Undisclosed Risks of Its Strategy Materialized ............30 

G.  The Fund Revised Some Disclosures Following the February 2017 
Collapse..................................................................................................................33 

V.  THE OFFERING DOCUMENTS CONTAINED UNTRUE STATEMENTS OF 
MATERIAL FACT AND OMITTED MATERIAL INFORMATION 
REQUIRED TO BE DISCLOSED ....................................................................................34 

A.  Statements Regarding Capital Preservation and Low Risk, Volatility, and 
Market Correlation .................................................................................................35 

B.  Statements Regarding the Fund’s Options Strategies and Risks ...........................38 

C.  Statements Regarding Risk Management ..............................................................41 

D.  Statements Regarding Past Performance ...............................................................45 

E.  Omissions Regarding Derivatives and Leverage Risk...........................................47 

VI.  CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS ..................................................................................49 

COUNT I .......................................................................................................................................50 

For Violation of §11 of the Securities Act Against the Trust, the Distributor and 
the Trustee Defendants ..........................................................................................50 

COUNT II ......................................................................................................................................51 

For Violation of §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act Against All Defendants .........................51 

 
 
 

Case 2:17-cv-02565-ADS-GRB   Document 61   Filed 03/30/18   Page 3 of 63 PageID #: 622



 

 

Page 

 

-iii- 
 

COUNT III .....................................................................................................................................53 

For Violation of §15 of the Securities Act Against Catalyst Advisors and the 
Individual Defendants ............................................................................................53 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF ................................................................................................................54 

JURY DEMAND ...........................................................................................................................54 

 
 

Case 2:17-cv-02565-ADS-GRB   Document 61   Filed 03/30/18   Page 4 of 63 PageID #: 623



 

-iv- 
 

RELEVANT FINANCIAL TERMS 

The following are standard definitions for common financial terms used in the mutual 

fund industry:   

(a) Investment Objective.  The statement which provides the purpose a 

particular mutual fund serves.  In other words, the investment objective provides the fundamental 

reason a person would invest in a given fund. 

(b) Capital Preservation.  One type of investment objective, which seeks to 

protect an investor’s principal from erosion or loss.  Generally, the primary goal of a capital 

preservation mutual fund is to preserve capital and prevent loss by investing in safe short-term 

instruments, such as Treasury bills and certificates of deposit.  A capital preservation strategy is 

often chosen by retirees, because the rate of return is designed only to keep up with inflation, 

ensuring that the value of their savings does not decrease over time.  

(c) Volatility.  The standard deviation, or variability, of an asset’s return over 

a period of time.  In other words, volatility refers to the amount of uncertainty or risk regarding 

the size of changes in an asset’s value.  A higher volatility means that an asset’s value can 

potentially be spread out over a larger range of values – meaning that the price of the stock or 

fund can change dramatically over a short time period in either direction.  A lower volatility 

means that an asset’s value does not fluctuate dramatically, and has small fluctuations in value 

over longer periods of time. 

(d) Correlation.  The statistic that measures the degree to which two 

securities move in relation to each other.  Correlation can be either positive, meaning that as one 

security moves up or down the other security moves in the same direction; or negative, meaning 
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that the two securities move in opposite directions.  When something is described as having a 

low correlation, it implies that two securities have little or no relationship to each other. 

(e) A Market Neutral Fund.  A type of mutual fund that would make profits 

from both decreases and increases in the market.   

(f) Investment Strategy.  The rules, behaviors, or procedures designed to 

guide a mutual fund’s investment actions and meet the fund’s stated objectives. 

(g) Option.  A financial derivative that represents a contract sold by one party 

(the option writer) to another party (the option holder).  The contract offers the holder the right, 

but not the obligation, to buy (call) or sell (put) a security or other financial asset at an agreed-

upon price (the strike price) during a certain period of time or on a specific date (exercise date).  

Call options give the option to buy at a certain price, so the holder would want the stock price to 

go up, while the writer would want the price to remain below the strike price, so the option 

expires worthless and the writer retains the premium paid.  Put options give the option to sell at a 

certain price, so the holder would want the stock to go down, while the writer wants the price of 

the stock to go up, so the option expires worthless and the writer retains the premium paid. 

(h) Covered Call.  A conservative approach to options trading, which occurs 

when an investor holds a long position in an asset (meaning they own the underlying asset) and 

writes (sells) call options on that same asset in an attempt to generate increased income from the 

asset.  This strategy is often employed when an investor has a short-term neutral view on the 

asset and for this reason holds the asset long and simultaneously has a short position via the 

option to generate income from the option premium.  This approach to options is considered 

conservative because the maximum profit of a covered call is equivalent to the strike price of the 

short call option less the purchase price of the underlying stock plus the premium received, while 
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the maximum loss is equivalent to the purchase price of the underlying stock less the premium 

received. 

(i) Naked Call or Uncovered Call.  A risky approach to options trading, in 

which an investor writes (sells) call options on the open market without owning the underlying 

security.  This stands in stark contrast to a covered call strategy, where the investor owns the 

underlying security on which the call options are written.  This approach is much risker as the 

maximum loss is theoretically unlimited because there is no cap on how high the price of the 

underlying security can rise, which the seller would need to buy on the open market to satisfy the 

options contract on the expiration date. 

(j) Drawdown.  The peak-to-trough decline during a specific recorded period 

of an investment, fund or commodity.  Retirees in particular are sensitive to drawdown risk, as a 

drastic drawdown coupled with withdrawals to fund retirement can dramatically shorten the 

lifespan of retirement savings. 

 

Case 2:17-cv-02565-ADS-GRB   Document 61   Filed 03/30/18   Page 7 of 63 PageID #: 626



 

 

Lead Plaintiffs Eugene Almendiner, Jeffrey Berkowitz, Debra Folk, Earle Folk, Maryann 

Lovelidge, Tom Lovelidge, and William H. Tod (collectively, “Plaintiffs”) bring this securities 

class action on behalf of all persons or entities who purchased or otherwise acquired shares of the 

Catalyst Hedged Futures Strategy Fund (the “Catalyst Futures Fund” or the “Fund”) in 

continuous offerings pursuant to registration statements and prospectuses for the Fund filed on 

November 1, 2014, November 13, 2014, November 1, 2015, November 5, 2015, November 1, 

2016, November 3, 2016, April 6, 2017 and April 13, 2017 and were damaged thereby (the 

“Class”).1  Plaintiffs seek remedies under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) 

against Mutual Fund Series Trust (the “Trust,” the Fund’s registrant), Catalyst Capital Advisors, 

LLC (“Catalyst Advisors,” the Fund’s investment advisor), Northern Lights Distributors LLC 

(the “Distributor,” the underwriter for Fund shares), and several individuals affiliated with the 

Fund and its advisor. 

Plaintiffs make the following allegations, except as to allegations specifically pertaining 

to Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs’ counsel, based upon the investigation undertaken by Plaintiffs’ 

counsel, which investigation included analyses of public filings with the U.S. Securities and 

Exchange Commission (“SEC”), publicly available news articles and reports about the Trust, 

Catalyst Advisors, and the Catalyst Futures Fund, as well as press releases, investor 

communications, other public statements issued by Defendants and media reports about the 

Defendants.  The allegations in the Complaint are also supported by detailed analyses of the 

Fund and its assets, including the use of proprietary sources of market data, such as Bloomberg, 

and consultations with a financial industry expert, familiar with mutual funds and the derivative 

                                                 
1 The time period during which the Class purchased or otherwise acquired shares of the Fund 
is defined herein as the “Relevant Period.” 
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trading strategies at issue. Plaintiffs believe that substantial additional evidentiary support will 

exist for the allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery. 

As set forth below, the claims asserted herein arise solely under the Securities Act.  These 

Securities Act claims are based solely on strict liability and negligence, and are not based on any 

reckless or intentionally fraudulent conduct by or on behalf of the Defendants – i.e., these claims 

do not allege, arise from, or sound in, fraud.  Plaintiffs specifically disclaim any allegation of 

fraud, scienter, or recklessness in these non-fraud Securities Act claims. 

I. INTRODUCTION & NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. The Catalyst Futures Fund is an open end mutual fund that invests in cash, and 

cash equivalents, such as high-quality short-term fixed income securities, and long and short call 

and put options on Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (“S&P 500”) futures contracts.  The claims for 

this action arose when Defendants sold shares of the Catalyst Futures Fund pursuant to publicly 

filed registration statements and prospectuses that claimed a primary investment objective of the 

Fund was “capital preservation in all market conditions.” The offering documents at issue in this 

case also assured investors that the Fund was low-volatility, was not tied to movements in the 

equity markets, and that the Fund had implemented strict risk management procedures to 

mitigate any drawdowns or losses in the Fund’s value. 

2. These statements, as well as others within the Fund’s offering documents, were 

materially false however, because the Fund routinely made complex trades that amounted to 

massive shorts of the S&P 500 that exposed the Fund to potentially unlimited losses of capital if 

the market were to rapidly move up.  Because the Fund faced the potential risk of unlimited loss 

of capital in a rapidly rising market, the Fund was not the conservative investment portrayed to 

investors.  Rather, it was highly speculative and not suitable for all investors, including investors 
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seeking capital preservation, low volatility, and low exposure to the movement of the US equity 

markets. 

3. Indeed, during the first two weeks of February 2017, the Fund had a “melt down” 

when the S&P 500 experienced a steady and rapid increase in value.  Because of the Fund’s risky 

trading practices that were contrary to the Fund’s stated objective, investment strategies, and risk 

disclosures, over this period of time the Fund lost a staggering 15% of net asset value (“NAV”) 

amounting to more than $600 million in losses to Fund investors.  The value of the Fund 

continued to deteriorate through the remaining Relevant Period as Defendants had to unwind 

their trades, causing further losses to members of the Class, and due to the Fund having 

inadequate risk disclosures and controls in place. 

A. The Catalyst Futures Fund, Investment Objectives & Strategies 

4. During the Relevant Period, the Catalyst Futures Fund was an open-ended mutual 

fund marketed to retail investors – who are generally less sophisticated than institutional 

investors – as a low-risk, capital preservation and capital appreciation fund, with low-volatility – 

i.e., few, if any, large increases or decreases in value over short periods of time, and low market 

correlation – i.e., performance independent of whether the market moved up or down.  As such, 

the Fund attracted conservative investors, such as retirees, who sought a steady, safe investment 

that would keep pace with inflation and not put the principal of their investment at risk.  

According to each prospectus filed during the Relevant Period, the Fund’s stated investment 

objective included “capital appreciation and capital preservation in all market conditions, with 

low volatility and low correlation to the US equity market.” 

5. According to the Fund’s prospectuses, the Fund sought to meet its stated 

investment objective by investing “primarily in long and short call and put options on Standard 
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& Poor’s 500 Index (“S&P”) futures contracts and in cash and cash equivalents, including high-

quality short-term (3 months or less) fixed income securities such as U.S. Treasury securities.” 

6. In other words, in addition to investing in low-risk cash equivalents like U.S. 

Treasuries, the Fund stated it would buy and sell options contracts that gave the holder of the 

contract the option of buying or selling S&P 500 futures contracts.2  For example, if the Fund 

sold (or wrote) call options, the Fund would collect a premium for the contract and, if the 

counter-party exercised its option, the Fund would be obligated to sell the underlying S&P 500 

futures contract at the set price known as the strike price.  Option contracts often serve as 

effective hedges against market swings, and when appropriately paired with long or short 

positions in the underlying security, they can insulate investors from risks associated with 

adverse price movements. 

7. On their own, however, the risks of writing or selling call options are functionally 

similar to taking a short position on the market or betting the market will not go up.  Because, if 

the market goes up and exceeds the strike price, and if the Fund is not already long in the 

underlying security (i.e., the Fund does not already own the security or have an equivalent option 

to buy), the Fund would have to “cover” the option by going into the market and purchasing the 

security at a loss – it would have to “buy high and sell low.”  In such a case, the option is said to 

be “uncovered” or “naked.” 

8. Because the upside for securities is theoretically unlimited, the risk of loss for 

uncovered or naked options is also unlimited and thus such investments are fundamentally at 

odds with low volatility, capital preservation like that which the Fund claimed to offer.  
                                                 
2 A futures contract is a derivative security and is a contract to buy or sell a particular commodity 
or security at a predetermined price at a fixed point in time. Unlike options contracts, futures 
obligate the holder to buy or sell the underlying security at the price and time as dictated by the 
terms of the contract.   
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Moreover, because the Fund would necessarily lose money in rising markets or, in other words 

would be negatively correlated to a rising market, such trading strategies are also fundamentally 

at odds with low market correlation objectives like that which the Fund also claimed to offer. 

9. Indeed, to supposedly protect investors from such risks and meet the Fund’s 

objectives, the Fund’s offering documents expressly assured investors that the options contracts 

that it wrote would always be covered and that the Fund had strict risk management procedures 

in place to mitigate the extent of any losses.  Unfortunately for investors, these assurances were 

not true and the Fund routinely wrote massive uncovered call contracts without sufficient risk 

mitigation procedures. 

10. Specifically with respect to options trading, the offering documents for the Fund 

stated that the Fund may also write call options and put options on stocks “only if they are 

covered . . . and such options must remain covered so long as the Fund is obligated as a writer.”  

Moreover the Fund emphasized that it “places a strong focus on risk management that is 

intended to provide consistency of returns and to mitigate the extent of losses. . . . [T]he Fund 

employs strict risk management procedures to adjust portfolio exposure as necessitated by 

changing market conditions.” 

B. The Fund’s Offering Documents Were Materially Untrue and 
Misleading Because the Fund Took Massive Short Positions in the 
S&P 500 

11. These statements and others like them in the Fund’s prospectuses and registration 

statements were untrue statements of material fact because the Catalyst Futures Fund actually 

took massive directional bets against U.S. stock market indexes through complex derivative 

instruments that amounted to substantial “uncovered” or “naked” call options, which subjected 

the Fund to unlimited losses on its investments. 
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12. Indeed, Plaintiffs’ financial analysis of the Fund during the Relevant Period – 

which could not have been done by retail investors like the Fund’s investors – shows that 

throughout the Relevant Period the Fund wrote or sold up to four times as many call options as it 

had bought, leaving the Fund with large positions in uncovered call options and badly exposed to 

potentially unlimited losses. 

13. At the same time the Fund was exposed to unlimited downside risk, it also failed 

to have appropriate risk controls in place to protect investors from the risk of unlimited loss of 

capital when certain market conditions arose.  Specifically, the Fund was highly negatively 

correlated to a rapidly increasing S&P 500, ultimately causing the Fund to incur huge capital 

losses despite the Defendants’ representations to the contrary. 

C. In February 2017, the Fund Experienced a “Melt Down” Due Its 
Risky Trading Positions 

14. In the first half of February 2017, the Fund’s risky bets began to be exposed as the 

S&P 500 rose rapidly and the Catalyst Futures Fund experienced a sudden and dramatic drop in 

the NAV of Fund shares.  More than $600 million of Fund value evaporated in a matter of days. 

The massive losses in NAV began to reveal that contrary to its stated investment objectives and 

risk disclosures, the Catalyst Futures Fund had taken out massive option contracts that 

effectively “shorted” the S&P 500 – meaning that the Fund had made a directional bet that the 

general equity market would not rise significantly in value – all while failing to cover its short 

positions.  As the market rallied around the time that these options were set to expire in mid-

February 2017, the Fund experienced rapidly accelerating losses, as it had little time for the 

market to reverse itself and for the bet to return to profitability.  Contemporary news reports 

estimated that the Fund’s exposure was as high as $17 billion (compared to the Fund’s $3 to $4 

billion portfolio). 
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15. In a two-week timespan, between February 2 and February 15, 2017, the NAV for 

the Fund’s HFXAX share class plummeted from $10.59 per share to $8.98 per share, a decline of 

more than 15%.  Such a rapid deterioration in NAV was extremely unusual given the 

representations regarding the Fund’s risk management controls, as well as the extensive 

regulatory framework designed to safeguard mutual fund investors and prevent excessive risk-

taking.  News reports at the time characterized the loss as a “melt-down” and stated that the Fund 

was “blowing up.” 

16. Other outlets struggled to explain how such a large loss was possible for a mutual 

fund, especially one that identified capital preservation as an investment objective.  For example, 

market commentator Seeking Alpha, in a February 17, 2017 article regarding the monumental 

loss, posed the question: “How does a seemingly low to moderate risk mutual fund, whose 

investment objective is capital preservation . . . suddenly find itself losing 15% in one week?”  

The article characterized the Fund’s investment strategy as “not well understood” with “risks 

[that] are not apparent.”  The author stated that recent events had revealed the Fund to in fact be 

a “high-risk derivatives fund that can generate significant principal loss over a very short time 

frame,” and that it was “unfair to market this type of strategy as a ‘capital preservation strategy’ 

because it clearly isn’t.” 

17. As these undisclosed risks materialized, the Fund’s investors suffered hundreds of 

millions of dollars in losses, with the value of Fund assets plummeting over $1 billion since it 

began its slide in February 2017.  Between February 2, 2017 and March 10, 2017, the NAV of 

the Fund’s HFXAX share class, HFXCX share class, and HFXIX share class suffered their worst 

declines, dropping approximately 21%, or $2.22 per share, $2.16 per share and $2.23 per share, 

respectively. 
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II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

18. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §1331 and §22 of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77v]. 

19. The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to §§11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of 

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§77k, 77l(a)(2) and 77o].  In connection with the acts complained 

of, Defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate 

commerce, including, but not limited to, the mails, interstate telephone communications and the 

facilities of the national securities markets. 

20. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b).  Defendant 

Catalyst Advisors, the investment advisor for the Fund, maintains its headquarters in this 

District.  Many of the acts that are the subject of this action took place in this District. 

III. THE PARTIES 

A. Plaintiffs 

21. Plaintiff Eugene Almendinger acquired the Fund’s shares pursuant to one or more 

of the Registration Statements and Prospectuses (defined below) at issue, as set forth in the 

certification previously filed with this Court, and has been damaged thereby. 

22. Plaintiff Jeffrey Berkowitz acquired the Fund’s shares pursuant to one or more of 

the Registration Statements and Prospectuses at issue, as set forth in the certification previously 

filed with this Court, and has been damaged thereby. 

23. Plaintiff Debra Folk acquired the Fund’s shares pursuant to one or more of the 

Registration Statements and Prospectuses at issue, as set forth in the certification previously filed 

with this Court, and has been damaged thereby. 
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24. Plaintiff Earle Folk acquired the Fund’s shares pursuant to one or more of the 

Registration Statements and Prospectuses at issue, as set forth in the certification previously filed 

with this Court, and has been damaged thereby. 

25. Plaintiff Maryann Lovelidge acquired the Fund’s shares pursuant to one or more 

of the Registration Statements and Prospectuses at issue, as set forth in the certification 

previously filed with this Court, and has been damaged thereby. 

26. Plaintiff Tom Lovelidge acquired the Fund’s shares pursuant to one or more of 

the Registration Statements and Prospectuses at issue, as set forth in the certification previously 

filed with this Court, and has been damaged thereby. 

27. Plaintiff William H. Tod acquired the Fund’s shares pursuant to one or more of 

the Registration Statements and Prospectuses at issue, as set forth in the certification previously 

filed with this Court, and has been damaged thereby. 

B. Corporate Defendants 

28. Defendant Trust is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (the 

“ICA”) as an open-end investment company with several investment funds, including the 

Catalyst Futures Fund, marketed under the Catalyst brand.  The Trust is organized as an Ohio 

business trust, with its principal place of business in Omaha, Nebraska.  The Catalyst Futures 

Fund is a mutual fund within the Trust series of mutual funds.  It offers three share classes to 

investors with the following ticker symbols HFXAX (Class A Shares), HFXCX (Class C Shares) 

and HFXIX (Class I Shares).  The Trust, through a corporate representative, signed each of the 

Registration Statements effective during the Relevant Period. 

29. Defendant Catalyst Advisors is a New York limited liability company and is the 

investment advisor for the Fund, which is its primary business.  Under the terms of the 

management agreement, Catalyst Advisors is responsible for formulating the Fund’s investment 
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policies, making ongoing investment decisions and engaging in portfolio transactions.  It is 

headquartered in Huntington, New York.  

30. Defendant Distributor is the principal underwriter and the national distributor for 

the shares of the Fund.  The Distributor also served as the Trust’s agent for the purpose of the 

continuous public offering of the Fund’s shares. 

31. The Trust, Catalyst Advisors, and the Distributor are collectively referred to 

herein as the “Corporate Defendants.” 

C. Individual Defendants 

32. Defendant Jerry Szilagyi (“Szilagyi”) was at all relevant times the Chairman of 

the Board of Trustees of the Fund, as well as the Fund’s President and Principal Executive 

Officer.  At all relevant times, Szilagyi was the Chief Executive Officer and co-founder of 

Catalyst Advisors.  He signed each of the Registration Statements effective during the Relevant 

Period. 

33. Defendant Tobias Caldwell was at all relevant times a member of the Board of 

Trustees of the Fund and signed each of the Registration Statements effective during the 

Relevant Period. 

34. Defendant Tiberiu Weisz was at all relevant times a member of the Board of 

Trustees of the Fund and signed each of the Registration Statements effective during the 

Relevant Period. 

35. Defendant Bert Pariser was at all relevant times a member of the Board of 

Trustees of the Fund and signed each of the Registration Statements effective during the 

Relevant Period. 
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36. Defendant Erik Naviloff (“Naviloff”) was at all relevant times the Treasurer and 

Principal Financial Officer for the Fund.  He signed each of the Registration Statements effective 

during the Relevant Period. 

37. Defendant Edward Walczak (“Walczak”) was at all relevant times the portfolio 

manager of the Fund and responsible for its day-to-day management and the investment of Fund 

assets. 

38. The defendants listed in ¶¶32-35 are referred to herein as the “Trustee 

Defendants.”  The Trustee Defendants, Defendant Naviloff and Defendant Walczak are 

collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.”  The Individual Defendants and 

Corporate Defendants are referred to herein as the “Defendants.” 

IV. SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

A. The Catalyst Futures Fund and Relevant SEC Filings 

39. The Catalyst Futures Fund has three share classes, each sharing the same 

underlying portfolio of assets, but with each bearing different associated fees and expenses. All 

shares can be purchased at the Fund’s net asset value, but Class A shares generally require 

buyers to pay an additional sales charge.  According to the November 1, 2016 Prospectus for the 

Fund: Class A Shares (ticker “HFXAX”) charged a maximum sales charge of 5.75%, a deferred 

sales charge of 1%, and annualized operating expenses of 2.35%; Class C Shares (ticker 

“HFXCX”) charged annualized operating expenses of 3.10%; and Class I Shares (ticker 

“HFXIX”) charged annualized operating expenses of 2.10%. 

40. Even though each class of shares experienced slightly different returns based on 

their varying expenses, all three classes were invested in and represented an interest in the same 

portfolio of assets during the Relevant Period.  As such, all three classes follow the Fund’s 
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purported objective of capital appreciation and capital preservation in all market conditions, with 

low volatility and low correlation to the US equity market. 

41. Importantly, the Fund was operated as an open-ended mutual fund wherein shares 

of the Fund could be purchased only from the Trust in continuous, open-ended offerings 

pursuant to the Fund’s registration statements.  There was no secondary market for the Fund 

shares.  At any time during the Relevant Period, investors could redeem their shares or purchase 

more shares from the Trust.  Thus, each member of the Class purchased shares of the Fund from 

the Trust pursuant to and traceable to the Fund’s Registration Statements. 

42. Throughout the Relevant Period, Defendants annually filed nearly identical 

registration statements and prospectuses in connection with the continuous offerings of the 

Fund’s shares.  The Fund’s shares were issued to investors pursuant to a series of registration 

statements and prospectuses that formed part of the registration statements filed with the SEC 

and made effective during the Relevant Period, which are referred to collectively herein as the 

“Registration Statements,” including the following: 

(a) Prospectus and Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2014; 

(b) Registration Statement dated November 13, 2014; 

(c) Prospectus and Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; 

(d) Registration Statement dated November 5, 2015; 

(e) Prospectus and Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; 

(f) Registration Statement dated November 3, 2016; 

(g) Prospectus and Summary Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; and 

(h) Registration Statement dated April 13, 2017. 
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43. The Prospectuses expressly incorporated by reference a Statement of Additional 

Information (“SAI”) and the Fund’s Annual Report for that year, each of which provided 

investors with additional guidance about, inter alia, the Fund’s investment strategies and 

limitations.  The Fund filed Annual Reports with the SEC on Form N-CSR dated September 9, 

2015 and September 8, 2016.  The Fund filed Semi-Annual Reports with the SEC on Form N-

CSRS dated March 11, 2015, March 10, 2016, and March 10, 2017, which were also 

incorporated into the Registration Statements by reference. 

44. The Registration Statements referred investors seeking more information to the 

SAI, which “contain[] detailed information on Fund policies and operations.”  Defendants 

reissued and updated the SAIs throughout the Relevant Period.  The Registration Statements 

directed investors to review the SAIs, Annual Reports and Semi-Annual Reports for additional 

information, including “management’s discussion of market conditions and investment 

strategies.”  Disclosure of each Fund’s complete holdings was required to be made quarterly 

within 60 days of the end of each fiscal quarter in the Annual Report and Semi-Annual Report to 

Fund shareholders and in the quarterly holdings report on Form N-Q.  The Forms N-Q were also 

part of the Registration Statements.  The following Forms N-Q, identifying the holdings of the 

Fund, were filed during the Relevant Period: 

(a) Form N-Q dated December 1, 2014, relating to the period ending 

September 30, 2014; 

(b) Form N-Q dated May 28, 2015, relating to the period ending March 31, 

2015; 

(c) Form N-Q dated November 27, 2015, relating to the period ending 

September 20, 2015; 
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(d) Form N-Q dated May 31, 2016, relating to the period ending March 31, 

2016; and 

(e) Form N-Q dated November 29, 2016, relating to the period ending 

September 30, 2016. 

45. Defendants periodically issued a Fund “Fact Sheet,” which was also used to 

solicit purchasers of Fund shares.   

46. The Documents described in ¶¶42-45 form the “Offering Documents.”  

B. The Catalyst Futures Fund Began as a Hedge Fund 

47. In December 2005, Defendant Walczak launched hedge fund Harbor Assets LLC 

(“Harbor Assets”) which would later morph into the Catalyst Futures Fund, and from the 

beginning served as its portfolio manager.  Walczak began his trading career after 25 years in 

business operations and supply chain management, which included running Chicago-based 

candy manufacturer Brach’s commodity hedging operation in the late 1990’s.  In 2005, after 

receiving an informal education from a trader, Defendant Walczak launched Harbor Assets and 

he began trading on behalf of his friends and family in an investment structure known as a 

commodity pool, where individual investors combine their resources and trade in futures 

contracts as a single entity in order to gain leverage. 

48. Hedge funds like Harbor Assets are alternative investment vehicles which use 

pooled funds to invest in complex investment strategies, typically involving derivative securities 

like options and futures contracts and borrowing capital (i.e., leverage), with the goal of 

generating high returns.  Hedge funds are generally only accessible to accredited, sophisticated 

investors because they face little of the regulation and financial industry oversight that open-end 

mutual Funds such as Catalyst Advisor’s mutual funds do.  Therefore, a hedge fund’s investors 

take on the responsibility of independently analyzing the risks of investing and conducting 
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adequate due diligence.  Accordingly, due to its status as a hedge fund, and the lack of 

regulations surrounding such investment vehicles and the absence of required public disclosures, 

limited information is available about Harbor Assets’ operations. 

49. In 2013, after nearly seven years of operating Harbor Assets as a hedge fund, 

Walczak partnered with Defendant Catalyst Advisors to convert his investment vehicle into a 

mutual fund.  On or about September 3, 2013, Catalyst Advisors announced the conversion of 

the Harbor Assets hedge fund into the Catalyst Futures Fund, which was marketed alongside 

Catalyst Advisors’ other mutual funds within its mutual fund family. 

50. The conversion to an open-ended mutual fund enabled Defendants to market and 

sell the Catalyst Futures Fund to the general public, including retail investors.  Generally, anyone 

could now invest in the Fund, so long as they invested the minimum amount and paid the related 

Fund fees, which was not true of the Fund when it operated as a hedge fund. By way of contrast, 

unlike a hedge fund, a mutual fund must register as an investment company under the ICA and 

must register shares sold to the public under the Securities Act.  Mutual fund advisors must also 

file periodic reports with the SEC, provide enhanced disclosures to investors, and implement 

extensive risk management and operational controls and procedures.    

51. Accordingly, the Catalyst Futures Fund became subject to an extensive regulatory 

framework designed to safeguard the investing public. 

C. The Fund’s Stated Investment Objective and Investment Strategy 
Were Untrue and Misleading 

52. As discussed below, due to the manner in which the Fund operated, and the type 

of investments the Fund made, its stated investment objective and strategy were inaccurate and 

untrue.   
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53. During the Relevant Period, the Catalyst Futures Fund was marketed to investors 

as a low-risk, capital preservation and capital appreciation fund, with low-volatility and low 

market correlation.  As such, the Fund attracted conservative investors who sought a steady 

investment with low correlation to the stock market. 

1. The Fund’s Stated Investment Objectives & Strategies 

54. The November 1, 2014 Prospectus described the Fund’s investment objective as 

“capital appreciation and capital preservation in all market conditions, with low volatility and 

low correlation to the US equity market.”3  The Fund’s stated investment objective remained 

consistent throughout the Relevant Period. 

55. The December 31, 2015 and 2016 Fact Sheets for the Fund stated that the Fund 

was “managed as an absolute return, market neutral strategy.”  In other words, the marketing 

materials for the Fund assured investors that the strategies employed by the Fund were geared to 

earn profits in both rising and falling markets.  Market neutral strategies are typically attained by 

matching long and short positions, and avoiding returns or losses based on broad market 

movements. 

56. The Catalyst Futures Fund represented that it sought to achieve these investment 

objectives by focusing on writing and purchasing options on S&P 500 futures contracts and 

purchasing short-term government securities.  According to the Fund’s November 1, 2014 

Prospectus, the investment strategy of the Fund was to invest, under normal circumstances, 

“primarily in long and short call and put options on Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (“S&P”) 

futures contracts and in cash and cash equivalents, including high-quality short-term (3 months 

or less) fixed income securities such as U.S. Treasury securities.”  The Fund explained that it 

                                                 
3 All emphasis is added unless otherwise stated. 
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sought to make money through premium collection, volatility trading and trend following, while 

stressing that “the strategy does not depend on a prediction of equity market direction, and is 

designed to produce returns that are not correlated with equity market returns.” In other 

words, the Prospectus explicitly told investors that the strategy was designed to achieve returns 

that were not tied to whether the market moved up or down. 

57. The Fund’s investment strategy was updated by a SEC Form 497 dated February 

25, 2016.  A SEC Form 497 is a form that mutual funds and investment companies use to file 

their definitive materials (i.e., any piece of information considered material to an investor), such 

as proxy statements, prospectus publications, and Statements of Additional Information (SAI). 

58. The update provided that the Fund was to invest, under normal circumstances 

“directly or indirectly through affiliated and unaffiliated funds, primarily in (i) long and short 

call and put options on Standard & Poor’s 500 Index (“S&P”) futures contracts and (ii) in cash 

and cash equivalents, including affiliated and unaffiliated money market funds, and other 

investment-grade short-term (3 years or less) fixed income securities.”  The Fund continued to 

stress that it sought to make money through premium collection, volatility trading and trend 

following, while underscoring that “the strategy does not depend on a prediction of equity 

market direction, and is designed to produce returns that are not correlated with equity market 

returns.” 

59. The investment strategy was again updated during the Relevant Period by a SEC 

Form 497 dated July 7, 2016, and again stressed that the Fund’s returns were not correlated with 

the rises or falls in the equity market. 
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2. According to the Offering Documents, The Fund Could Write 
Only Low-Risk Covered Call Options 

60. The Fund highlighted its conservative and risk-adverse nature by representing that 

all written option positions were to be “covered,” so potential losses would be capped. 

61. During the Relevant Period, the Additional Information About Investments and 

Risks section of the Fund’s Prospectuses detailed the way in which the various mutual funds 

within the Catalyst family were able to write or purchase options.   

62. Indeed, according to the November 1, 2014 Prospectus, the “Fund may also write 

call options and put options on stocks only if they are covered, as described below, and such 

options must remain covered so long as the Fund is obligated as a writer.”  A position is 

covered, “if the Fund either owns the underlying security or has an absolute and immediate right 

(such as a call with the same or a later expiration date) to acquire that security.”  This was critical 

to the Catalyst Futures Fund whose objective was capital preservation in all markets, since an 

uncovered written call option was effectively a short of the market and would expose the Fund to 

potentially unlimited losses in a rapidly rising market. 

63. In addition to the above generic disclosures applicable to all Catalyst Funds, the 

portion of the Prospectus specific to the Catalyst Futures Fund contained a section entitled 

“Options Risk.”  The Fund’s disclosures about “Options Risk” indicated that the Fund did not 

invest in uncovered calls because investors were advised only of the risks of writing covered call 

options.  The “Options Risk” section of the November 1, 2014 Prospectus disclosed that:   

There are risks associated with the sale and purchase of call and put options.  As 
the seller (writer) of a covered call option, the Fund assumes the risk of a decline 
in the market price of the underlying security below the purchase price of the 
underlying security less the premium received, and gives up the opportunity for 
gain on the underlying security above the exercise option price.  As the buyer of a 
put or call option, the Fund risks losing the entire premium invested in the option 
if the Fund does not exercise the option.  As a seller (writer) of a put option, the 
Fund will lose money if the value of the security falls below the strike price. 
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Similar representations were made in the Offering Documents throughout the Relevant Period. 

3. The Fund Invested in High-Risk Uncovered Written Call 
Options and Could Not Meet Its Stated Investment Objectives 

64. Despite the representations above, in reality the Fund took massive short 

uncovered positions in options on S&P 500 futures contracts.  As the stock market moved, the 

Fund’s exposure to the stock market would change, and consequently the Fund would need to 

trade the underlying S&P 500 futures contracts, if it were to remain hedged.  In other words, in 

order to have little or no exposure to the stock market as the market moved, the Fund would have 

to actively, and continuously, trade futures contracts. 

65. Despite being named the “Catalyst Hedged Futures Strategy Fund,” however, it 

appears that the Fund did not hold any underlying futures contracts, which could act as a hedge 

and cover potential losses caused by written call options.  If fact, it appears as if there was no 

futures hedging in any Fund Portfolio of Investments before the large drop which occurred in 

February 2017. 

66. Given the complexity of evaluating the Fund’s tactics, commentators after the 

February 2017 collapse described the Fund’s investment strategy as a “black box,” adding that it 

was “not well understood” and exposed shareholders to “risks [that] are not apparent.”  

67. Indeed, the strategy employed by the Fund is so unique for a mutual fund that, 

Morningstar, Inc., an investment research firm, had mischaracterized the Fund for more than 

three years as a “managed futures fund,” until February 2017 when it moved the Fund into the 

options writing category.  Commenting on the mistake, and acknowledging the Fund’s 

uniqueness, Defendant Szilagyi, CEO of Catalyst Advisors, reportedly stated, “That’s not the 

best fit, either . . . .  The Fund is unique.  There really isn’t a good category for it.” 
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68. The difficulty of evaluating the Fund’s holdings, its true investment strategy and 

the strategy’s attendant risks, was compounded by the fact that the Fund engaged in a “dynamic 

options stratge[y],” whereby it actively buys and exits positions to manage risk, avoid losses and 

take profits.  Whereas the Fund reported its positions to investors on a quarterly basis, dynamic 

strategies require regular and ongoing trading in complex financial products. 

69. Although the Fund disclosed that it “actively trade[d] its portfolio investments,” 

each Portfolio of Investments provided only a one-day snap shot of the Fund’s holdings – its 

investors therefore had no insight into the Fund’s daily holdings, which may have looked very 

different every day of the year. 

70. Based on Plaintiffs’ review and a financial expert’s analysis of the Fund’s 

Portfolio of Investments during the Relevant Period, which were provided to shareholders on a 

quarterly basis, the Portfolio contained large numbers of uncovered written call options.  Based 

on the reported Portfolio of Investments, however, the uncovered written call option strategy was 

not readily apparent to retail investors.  Indeed, because the Portfolio of Investments listed both 

written call options and purchased options, investors reasonably would have assumed these 

covered the written call options, as was required by the Fund’s prospectus.  In particular, at 

various points in time the reported dollar value of the purchased options exceeded the value of 

the written options, leading investors to believe that the Fund was generally balanced, i.e., its 

written call options were covered, and was thus protected against large market movements. 

71. Despite this difference in value, however, the actual number of written options 

exceeded the number of purchased options.  Further, when Plaintiffs, with the assistance of an 

industry expert, ran the Fund’s stated portfolios through hypothetical stress tests to analyze the 

Fund’s reaction, the Fund lost enormous amounts of capital in rapidly rising markets due to the 
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Fund’s large volume of uncovered written call options.  More precisely, the hypothetical stress 

test showed that these uncovered written call options led to large drawdowns as the markets rose 

rapidly, due to the unlimited risk associated with them. 

72. As a result of the potential risk of unlimited loss of capital with respect to 

uncovered written call options, the Fund was actually speculative and not suitable for all 

investors, including investors seeking capital preservation, with low volatility and low exposure 

to the US markets. 

a. Analysis of the Fund’s March 31, 2016 Portfolio of 
Investments 

73. The Fund’s uncovered written call position, and its exposure to sharply rising 

markets, can be seen through its Portfolio of Investments as of March 31, 2016.  As stated above, 

the uncovered call position as of March 31, 2016 was not readily apparent to retail investors, and 

could only be detected through a sophisticated financial analysis. In total, the Fund reported only 

42,875 S&P 500 futures purchased call options, and 124,325 S&P 500 futures written call 

options.  The ratio of purchased to written call options was approximately 1:3, which meant that 

for every three call option contracts written by the Fund, at least two were uncovered and 

exposed the Fund to large capital losses in a rapidly rising market, as shown below:   

Expiration Date Purchased Call Options Written Call Options 
Ratio of Purchased to 
Written Call Options 

June 30, 2016 2,500 7,500 1:3 
July 15, 2016 10,075 30,225 1:3 
July 29, 2016 15,000 45,000 1:3 

74. Because the number of written call options vastly outnumbered the amount of 

purchased options, this strategy entailed the inherent risk that if the stock market rose sharply, 

the Fund would suffer substantial losses. 
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75. To this end, Plaintiffs, with the assistance of an industry expert, loaded the Fund’s 

Portfolio of Investments as of March 31, 2016 into Bloomberg, and a stress test was applied.  

Assets under management at this time were approximately $2.8 billion.  When the underlying 

futures contracts were instantaneously lowered by 5%, the model approximated that the portfolio 

would make $20 million.  If, however, the underlying futures contracts went up instantaneously 

by 5%, the model approximated the portfolio lost over $800 million – thus proving that if the 

equity markets rose sharply, the strategy was going to lose a considerable amount of capital, due 

to the uncovered written call positions. 

b. Analysis of the Fund’s September 30, 2014 Portfolio of 
Investments 

76. Another example can be found in the Portfolio of Investments dated September 

30, 2014.  In total, the Fund reported only 19,750 S&P 500 futures purchased call options, and 

39,300 S&P 500 futures written call options. 

77. Plaintiffs, with the assistance of an expert, loaded the Fund’s Portfolio of 

Investments as of September 30, 2014 into Bloomberg, and performed a hypothetical stress test.  

Assets under management at this time were approximately $430 million.  When the underlying 

futures contracts were instantaneously lowered by 5%, the model approximated that the portfolio 

lost $100,000.  If, however, the underlying futures contracts went up instantaneously by 5%, the 

model approximated a portfolio loss of more than $45 million – showing that even before the 

start of the Relevant Period, if the equity markets rose sharply, the strategy employed by the 

Fund was going to lose a considerable amount of capital, due to its uncovered written call 

positions, and thus was unsuitable for investors seeking capital preservation in all market 

conditions and low volatility. 
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78. The September 30, 2014 Portfolio of Investments also highlighted the difficulty a 

retail investor would have had in understanding the Fund’s positions and associated risks 

because the Portfolio of Investments reported the respective market value of the Fund’s written 

call options and purchased options, but did not explain the potential exposure from such 

positions.  Indeed, as of September 30, 2014, the Fund had total purchased options valued at 

$13,018,750, which exceeded the total written options value of $10,888,125.  Because the Fund 

had a higher value ascribed to the purchased options than the written options, it gave the 

appearance that the Fund’s purchased options were adequate to cover and mitigate the risk of the 

Fund’s written call options.  But the Fund actually held a greater number of written contracts 

than purchased contracts, and thus had a large unhedged exposure to a rapidly rising market. 

79. Moreover, despite the fact that in terms of value it would have appeared as though 

the Fund had balanced its portfolio, the Fund had written a greater number of options contracts 

and when Plaintiffs’ hypothetical stress test was applied to the relevant holdings, the options 

strategy caused large losses in a rapidly rising market. 

c. Analysis of the Fund’s December 31, 2015 Portfolio of 
Investments 

80. Another example can be found in the Portfolio of Investments as of December 31, 

2015.  In total, the Fund reported only 12,195 S&P 500 futures purchased call options, and 

53,495 S&P 500 futures written call options, or more than four times the number of uncovered 

written call options than purchased options. 

81. With the assistance of an expert, Plaintiffs loaded the Fund’s Portfolio of 

Investments as of December 31, 2015 into Bloomberg, and applied a hypothetical stress test.  

Assets under management at this time were approximately $2.2 billion.  When the underlying 

futures contracts were instantaneously lowered by 5%, the model approximated that the portfolio 
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made $3 million.  If, however, the underlying futures contracts went up instantaneously by 5%, 

the model approximated the portfolio lost over $50 million – showing that if the equity markets 

rose sharply, the strategy was going to lose a considerable amount of capital, due to the 

uncovered written call positions.  If the underlying futures contracts went up instantaneously by 

7.5%, the Fund lost over $200 million. 

82. Again, the December 31, 2015 Portfolio of Investments demonstrated the 

difficulty a retail investor would have had in understanding the Fund’s positions and associated 

risks.  As of December 31, 2015, the Fund had total purchased options valued at $28,257,562, 

which exceeded the total written options value of $15,360,062.  This meant that although the 

Fund had a higher value ascribed to the purchased options than the written options, which would 

have given investors the impression the written call options were covered, it actually held a 

greater number of written contracts than purchased contracts. 

83. Moreover, despite the fact that in terms of value it would have appeared as though 

the Fund had balanced its portfolio, or even held more purchased options than written options, 

the Fund had written a greater number of options contracts and when the hypothetical stress test 

was applied to the relevant holdings, the options strategy caused large losses in a rapidly rising 

market. 

d. The Fund’s Stated Investment Objectives and Strategies 
Were Misleading 

84. Based on the above analysis of the Fund’s Portfolio of Investments, any Relevant 

Period statements regarding the Fund’s conservative investment objectives, strategies and risk 

mitigation procedures, including the requirement of the Fund to only write covered call options, 

were untrue and misleading because the Fund engaged in the much riskier strategy of writing 

uncovered calls. 
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85. Despite the Relevant Period representations, the writing of uncovered calls was 

inconsistent with the Fund’s stated investment objective, including capital preservation, because 

of the potential for unlimited losses, rendering the Fund’s investment objective disclosures 

untrue.  Worse, the Fund failed to employ proper risk controls (as discussed below) to ensure that 

the Fund preserved capital, remained in low correlation with the markets and exhibited low 

volatility, further rendering the above disclosures regarding the Fund’s investment objectives 

false and misleading. 

86. Moreover, the representations regarding the Fund’s low market correlation were 

inconsistent with the Fund’s uncovered call strategy, because the Fund was highly and negatively 

correlated to a rising market as a result of the Fund’s uncovered options trades.  More 

specifically, when the S&P 500 increased rapidly, the Fund’s NAV decreased rapidly.  The 

following chart, created by a market commentator on the website ZeroHedge after the February 

2017 crash in the Fund’s value, highlights at least six instances between 2013 and 2017 when 

there was negative correlation between the S&P 500 and the Fund: 

 

87. Finally, the representations concerning the Fund’s low volatility were also 

inconsistent with an uncovered call strategy, resulting in the Fund displaying periods of high 

volatility throughout the Relevant Period, including losses in NAV of 8% and 4.6% in rapidly 
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rising markets.  In February 2017, as discussed below, the Fund lost nearly 15% of its NAV over 

a two week period of time.  Such large losses in the Fund’s NAV highlight the volatility of the 

Fund. 

D. The Fund Became Too Big to Employ its Trading Strategy 

88. The Harbor Asset hedge fund, which held under $10 million when it operated, 

grew exponentially once it converted to a mutual fund, reaching over $4 billion in net assets. As 

a result of this exponential growth, the Fund was unable to successfully employ the same 

strategies it did as a hedge fund, because it was unable to adequately mitigate risk by quickly 

getting into and out of its options trades. 

89. According to a Wall Street Journal article dated November 3, 2013, the Harbor 

Assets hedge fund managed just $8 million in assets in or around September 2013. 

90. During the Relevant Period, however, the Fund’s net assets grew rapidly as more 

and more people invested in the Fund, as shown on the chart below: 

Reporting Date Total Net Assets 

9/30/2014 $429,571,634 

12/31/2014 $513,337,628 

3/31/2015 $741,796,285 

6/30/2015 $1,075,566,096 

9/30/2015 $1,753,747,160 

12/31/2015 $2,223,620,615 

3/31/2016 $2,888,615,969 

6/30/2016 $3,318,437,655 

9/30/2016 $4,033,310,488 

91. The Fund’s net assets grew so rapidly that the Fund closed itself off to new 

investors as of October 31, 2015.  Despite closing the Fund to new investors, it was still open 

and available to then current investors who were allowed to purchase additional shares.  As a 
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result, the Fund grew by approximately 435% from September 30, 2015 to September 30, 2016, 

as then current investors continued to invest in the Fund.  

92. In all, the Fund grew by over 825% in the two year period between September 30, 

2014 and September 30, 2016, increasing from $429,571,634 to $4,033,310,488. 

93. Even more remarkable, the fund grew by over 50,000% in a three year period 

between September 2013 and September 2016, increasing from approximately $8,000,000 to 

$4,033,310,488.   

94. This rapid growth in assets created a situation where the Fund’s strategy became 

difficult to employ due to its size, which led to massive risk exposure for the Fund.  As explained 

in more detail below, the Fund grew so large that its market positions made up virtually the 

entire market in particular options contracts, and as a result the Fund essentially cornered itself 

and could not get in or out of positions quickly enough to avoid drawdowns. 

95. Indeed, when the Fund operated as a hedge fund, with approximately $8 million 

in assets under management (¶89), or operated as fund for family and friends of Defendant 

Walczak (¶47), it was easy to enter and exit derivative positions quickly.  However, as the Fund 

grew, eventually reaching over $4 billion in assets under management, it was unable to enter and 

exit its positions as quickly as it needed to employ the proper risk controls. 

96. By way of background, derivative contracts are complicated in many ways – the 

most important one being that options contracts do not naturally exist.  Each options contract 

only exists due to the simultaneous buyer and writer of the contract.  “Open Interest” is a term in 

the derivatives market that refers to how many derivative contracts are in existence at any one 

time. 
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97. The example below demonstrates how the Fund’s size and positions made up the 

vast majority of the market in certain futures options contracts.  Based on the December 31, 2015 

Portfolio of Investments, the Fund held 60,600 total written or purchased options contracts for 

March 2016 S&P 500 futures, expiring on March 18, 2018.  At the same time, the entire Open 

Interest in the same written or purchased options contracts totaled 68,455 – meaning that the 

Fund held approximately 89% of the Open Interest on call options for March 2016 S&P 500 

futures, expiring on March 18, 2018.  Moreover, at various strike prices, the Fund held 100% of 

the Open Interest – meaning that at various strike prices, the entire market of the call option was 

controlled by the Fund. 

98. Further, when looking at the Fund’s positons for the same options contracts, the 

Fund required an average of 3.25 days to get into a given position.  In other words, the positions 

of the Fund were so large that it required multiple days to fully execute the Fund’s desired 

strategy.  In the converse, it would likely take the Fund multiple days to unwind each position.  

99. Thus, because the Fund controlled so much of the Open Interest due to the size of 

its positions, it took longer periods to fully enter its positions, making it difficult, and at times 

impossible, for the Fund to enter or exit positions quickly enough to hedge against risk or 

employ its risk management strategies. 

E. The Fund’s Risk Controls Were Misleading 

100. As shown below, despite aggressively promoting its risk controls, the Fund, due 

to its investment strategy which subjected it to unlimited losses, was never able to fully mitigate 

its risk or ensure that the Fund could limit its losses. 

101. In its Registration Statements, the Fund repeatedly emphasized its risk 

management strategies, including the purported use of “sophisticated options analysis software.”  

The November 1, 2014 Prospectus, for instance, disclosed that the Fund, “adapts the strategy’s 
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entry, adjustment, and position sizing criteria to current market conditions” and that the Fund 

“places a strong focus on risk management intended to provide consistency of returns and to 

mitigate the extent of losses.”  The Fund also disclosed that it “employs strict risk management 

procedures to adjust portfolio exposure as necessitated by changing market conditions.”  

Similar representations were made in the Offering Documents throughout the Relevant Period. 

102. The Fund also highlighted the Board’s role in risk oversight.  For example, in the 

November 1, 2014 Prospectus, and in other Offering Documents, the Fund disclosed, “the Board 

oversees risk management,” that the “full Board regularly engages in discussions of risk 

management” and that the “actual day-to-day risk management with respect to the Fund 

resides with the Fund’s advisor and other service providers to the Fund.”   

103. In fact, in at least two Annual Reports during the Relevant Period, the Fund 

highlighted how its risk management strategies worked to mitigate Fund losses.  Specifically, in 

the Annual Report dated September 9, 2015, the Fund disclosed that its risk controls kept losses 

to 8%, as they were designed to do, and was able to “make some modifications that I believe 

can improve performance in future, like environments.” 

104. Similarly, in its Annual Report dated September 8, 2016, Fund disclosed that its 

losses were kept to under 5%, after refining its risk controls, stating, in pertinent part: 

Because the Fund is consciously positioned to accept upside risk in exchange for 
eliminating most downside exposure, this is the worst scenario for our strategy.  
Last year I described how similar price action (Q4 of CY2014) lead to an 8% 
drawdown for the fund.  I also reported that “the extreme nature of the price 
advance provided a real time stress test to our position management protocols.  
From that experience we were able to make some modifications that I believe 
can improve performance in future, like environments.”  I am pleased to report 
that although the two FY2016 snapback rallies actually exceeded the prior year’s 
occurrence in both magnitude and duration, the Fund was able to limit 
drawdowns to 1.5 and 4.6 percent respectively. 
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105. Because of the unlimited risk associated with writing uncovered calls, and the 

inability of the Fund to effectively execute its strategy due to the size of the Fund’s assets and 

option activity, the Fund was unable to implement sufficient risk controls to prevent or fully 

mitigate investor losses, despite the above representations regarding the quality of the Fund’s 

risk controls and its ability to mitigate losses.   

F. The Fund Crashed as the Undisclosed Risks of Its Strategy 
Materialized 

106. The S&P 500 rose dramatically during the first half of February 2017.  Indeed, the 

S&P 500 rose in ten of the eleven trading days between February 1 and February 15.  In the five 

trading days from February 9 through the close of trading on February 15, 2017, the S&P 500 

rose over 2.3%.  As a result of this rapid rise in the S&P 500, and the Fund’s undisclosed risk as 

a result of its large open uncovered call position, the Catalyst Futures Fund lost an astonishing 

$600 million in Fund value in a matter of days. 

107. Between February 2 and February 15, 2017, the NAV for the Fund’s HFXAX 

share class plummeted from $10.59 per share to $8.98 per share, a decline of more than 15%.  

The Fund’s other share classes declined in a similar fashion.  Such a rapid deterioration in NAV 

is extremely unusual for a mutual fund given the extensive regulatory framework designed to 

safeguard mutual fund investors and prevent excessive risk-taking.  Such a decline for this Fund, 

however, was all the more shocking due to the Fund’s stated objective of “capital preservation” 

and its disclosures about purported risk controls. 

108. Contrary to the portrayal of the Fund and its investment objectives and risk 

disclosure in the Offering Documents, the Catalyst Futures Fund had written massive uncovered 

call options contracts that effectively “shorted” the S&P 500, meaning that the Fund had made a 

directional bet that the equity market would not rise significantly in value.  Then, as these 
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options were set to expire in mid-February 2017, the market rallied, causing the Fund to 

experience rapidly accelerating losses. 

109. News organizations characterized the loss as a “melt-down” and stated that the 

Fund was “blowing up.”  Given the lack of detail about its true investment strategy in the 

Offering Documents, however, commentators struggled to explain how such a large loss was 

possible for a mutual fund focused on capital preservation. 

110. For example, Seeking Alpha, in a February 17, 2017 article regarding the 

monumental loss, posed the question: “How does a seemingly low to moderate risk mutual find, 

whose investment objective is capital preservation . . . suddenly find itself losing 15% in one 

week?”  The article characterized the Fund’s investment strategy as “not well understood” with 

“risks [that] are not apparent.”  The article stated that recent events had revealed the Fund to in 

fact be a “high-risk derivatives fund that can generate significant principal loss over a very short 

time frame,” and that it was “unfair to market this type of strategy as a ‘capital preservation 

strategy’ because it clearly isn’t.” 

111. Likewise, an article written by Paul Jacobs of Palisades Hudson Financial Group 

LLC on March 1, 2017, noted that “legitimate options strategies . . . typically involve reducing 

risk, not increasing it,” as the options strategies employed by Catalyst Advisors appeared to 

have done in February 2017. 

112. Given the opaque nature of the Fund’s disclosures, the precise size of the Fund’s 

options bets cannot be known with certainty without discovery, even to sophisticated outside 

options specialists, let alone ordinary mutual fund investors.  One commentator, however, 

estimated the amount as high as $17 billion (compared to the Fund’s $3 to $4 billion portfolio) in 

a ZeroHedge article dated February 16, 2017. 
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113. Due to the large amount of options invested in by the Fund and the size of the 

Fund’s losses, some news organizations even speculated that the Fund’s hedging strategy had 

actually contributed to the market upswing, as it rushed to buy underlying equity securities to 

hedge its failing stock index options strategy.  Regardless of the impact on the overall market, 

the need to buy underlying equities in a rising market would likely have contributed to Fund 

losses, because, as Matt Levine of Bloomberg noted, the Fund would essentially be stuck 

“buying high and selling low.” 

114. The Fund’s hundreds of millions of dollars of directional bets through an 

undisclosed uncovered calls options strategy were completely out of proportion and inconsistent 

with the marketed risk profile and objectives of the Fund (including “capital preservation”) and 

the Fund’s risk management strategies failed to limit the losses experienced by investors.  And 

even though the Fund’s Offering Documents misleadingly described its investment strategy as 

having “low correlation to the US equity market,” the exact opposite was true. 

115. As shown in the following graph created by a market commentator, the Fund and 

the U.S. equity market were highly, negatively correlated in rapidly rising equity markets, which 

amplified undisclosed risks to the Fund’s investors: 

 

Case 2:17-cv-02565-ADS-GRB   Document 61   Filed 03/30/18   Page 39 of 63 PageID #: 658



 

- 33 - 

116. As these undisclosed risks materialized, the Fund’s investors suffered hundreds of 

millions of dollars in losses, with the value of Fund assets plummeting over $1 billion since the 

Fund began to experience losses in February 2017.  More specifically, between February 2, 2017 

and March 10, 2017, the NAV of the Fund’s HFXAX share class, HFXCX share class and 

HFXIX share class have each declined approximately 21%, or $2.17 per share, $2.11 per share 

and $2.18 per share, respectively. 

117. The Fund’s NAV declined from a closing price of $10.74 on October 31, 2014, to 

closing price of $8.61 on June 30, 2017. 

G. The Fund Revised Some Disclosures Following the February 2017 
Collapse 

118. Following the February 2017 collapse, the Fund began to make certain changes to 

its risk disclosures, which began to demonstrate that its prior disclosures were inadequate and 

misleading.  Despite making the changes identified below, the Offering Documents continued to 

remain misleading and continued to omit material facts, including the risk of engaging in 

uncovered calls and failure of the Fund’s risks controls. 

119. For example, prior to the February 2017 collapse, the Fund disclosed that there 

was an “Options Risk” which specifically referenced the Fund writing only covered calls and  

did not reference uncovered calls, as follows: 

There are risks associated with the sale and purchase of call and put options.  As 
the seller (writer) of a covered call option, the Fund assumes the risk of a decline 
in the market price of the underlying security below the purchase price of the 
underlying security less the premium received, and gives up the opportunity for 
gain on the underlying security above the exercise option price.   

Several months after the Fund’s February 2017 collapse, in the Fund’s April 6, 2017 prospectus, 

this risk disclosure was changed by the removal of the “covered” options language, indicating for 

the first time that the Fund may invest in uncovered calls: 
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There are risks associated with the sale and purchase of call and put options.  As 
the buyer of a put or call option, the Fund risks losing the entire premium invested 
in the option if the Fund does not exercise the option.  As a seller (writer) of a put 
or call option, the Fund will lose money if the value of the stock index futures 
falls below or rises above the respective option’s strike price. 

120. Then, in its Annual Report dated June 30, 2017, the Fund included language 

concerning its potential exposure to a “low volatility, rapidly advancing market” stating, in 

pertinent part: 

[C]all options spreads are used to provide potential profit opportunity from an 
advancing equity market with little or no risk should the market decline.  The risk 
in these positions is realized when markets advance at an extreme pace.  Because 
market downturns are often more severe and more violent than market advances, 
risk is consciously inverted from below to above the market.  While the strategy 
does not employ a directional bias, we do believe this is a desirable risk profile as 
a part of an equity portfolio and most in line with our investment objectives. As a 
part of this tradeoff we recognize that the most difficult environment for the 
Fund is a low volatility, rapidly advancing market and that under those 
conditions the Fund is likely to experience some level of drawdown. 

121. The June 30, 2017 Annual Report also acknowledged that the Fund’s risk 

disclosures were not adequate to prevent the losses during February 2017, stating, in pertinent 

part: 

Although we have identified the highly unusual conditions that resulted in the 
Funds poor performance, we also recognized that the size of the drawdown is 
larger than the strategy objectives no matter how unusual the environment that 
lead to it.  Although the strategy’s risk management metrics had proven adequate 
since developed in response to the large drawdown in 2007, this most recent 
drawdown suggested that further enhancements were required. 

V. THE OFFERING DOCUMENTS CONTAINED UNTRUE STATEMENTS 
OF MATERIAL FACT AND OMITTED MATERIAL INFORMATION 
REQUIRED TO BE DISCLOSED  

122. Throughout the Relevant Period, Defendants issued and offered shares of the 

Fund for sale.  The Registration Statements, including Prospectuses, Forms N-Q, SAIs and 

Annual and Semi-Annual Reports used throughout the Relevant Period to register and offer 

shares of the Fund to Plaintiffs and the Class contained untrue statements of material facts and 
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omitted material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.  Even though the 

Registration Statements issued during the Relevant Period were not perfectly identical, they did 

contain many of the same untrue statements, as set forth below, and were rendered misleading by 

the same omissions.  

A. Statements Regarding Capital Preservation and Low Risk, Volatility, 
and Market Correlation 

123. Throughout the Relevant Period, the Fund was marketed as a low-risk mutual 

fund.  Even though it sought capital appreciation, a primary stated objective was also capital 

preservation, and the Fund was portrayed as not being volatile with low correlation to the U.S. 

equity market. 

124. For example, as stated in the Prospectus dated November 1, 2014, the Fund’s 

investment objective was “capital appreciation and capital preservation in all market 

conditions, with low volatility and low correlation to the US equity market.”   

125. The Fund’s investment objective, as detailed above, was repeated in the following 

Offering Documents: Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2014; Registration Statement 

dated November 13, 2014; Semi-Annual Report filed March 11, 2015; Annual Report filed 

September 9, 2015; Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; Summary Prospectus dated November 

1, 2015; Semi-Annual Report filed March 10, 2016; Annual Report filed September 8, 2016; 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; 

Registration Statement dated November 7, 2016; Semi-Annual Report filed March 10, 2017; 

Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; Summary Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; and the Registration 

Statement dated April 13, 2017. 

126. The Fund’s December 31, 2014 Fact Sheet provided an identical disclosure, 

although it was slightly modified in the December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016 Fact Sheets 
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to provide that the Fund’s investment objective was “[c]apital appreciation and capital 

preservation in all market conditions, with low standard deviation and low correlation to the U.S. 

equity market.”  

127. The statements referenced above in ¶¶124-26, that the Fund’s investment 

objective was “capital appreciation and capital preservation in all market conditions, with low 

volatility and low correlation to the US equity market” or “[c]apital appreciation and capital 

preservation in all market conditions, with low standard deviation and low correlation to the U.S. 

equity market” were untrue statements of material fact and omitted material information 

rendering those statements misleading, because: (a) the Fund’s investment strategy was 

inconsistent with “low” market correlation, and instead, was highly correlated, in the negative, to 

a rapidly rising equity market, which was likely to eviscerate Fund capital and cause severe 

losses for Fund investors; (b) the Fund’s investment strategy did not – and would not – perform 

well “in all market conditions,” as it was susceptible to large losses in a rapidly rising equity 

market; (c) the Fund’s investment strategy was inconsistent with “capital preservation,” as it 

wrote uncovered call options, which subjected the Fund to unlimited risk of loss, and prevented 

the Fund from employing proper risk mitigation controls; (d) the Fund’s investment strategy was 

inconsistent with “low volatility,” as the risky uncovered call options strategy, combined with 

inadequate risk control procedures, exposed the Fund to dramatic volatility in a rapidly rising 

market.  Indeed other Catalyst funds, employing similar strategies to the Fund but with different 

futures contracts, such as the Catalyst Hedged Commodity Strategy Fund, did not use the same 

“capital preservation” or “low volatility” language in its investment objective. 

128. Furthermore, the Fund, when discussing its investment strategy in the Offering 

Documents, stressed that “the strategy does not depend on a prediction of equity market 
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direction, and is designed to produce returns that are not correlated with equity market 

returns.” 

129. This disclosure was first made in the Prospectus dated November 1, 2014, and 

then repeated in the following Offering Documents: Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 

2014; Registration Statement dated November 13, 2014; Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; 

Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; Summary 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; Registration Statement dated November 7, 2016; 

Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; Summary Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; and the Registration 

Statement dated April 13, 2017. 

130. The statements referenced above in ¶¶128-29, that the Fund was “designed to 

produce returns that are not correlated with equity market returns” were untrue statements of 

material fact and omitted material information because the Fund’s investment strategy was 

inconsistent with low market correlation and produced returns correlated with equity market 

returns – specifically, the Fund was highly correlated, in the negative, to a rapidly rising equity 

market, which was likely to eviscerate Fund capital and cause severe losses for Fund investors. 

131. Investors were also assured the Fund was “market neutral,” meaning its gains or 

losses were not dependent upon the movement of the market.  As stated in the Fund’s December 

31, 2015 and 2016 Fact Sheets, the Fund “is managed as an absolute return, market neutral 

strategy.”   

132. The statements referenced above in ¶131, that the Fund was “managed as an 

absolute return, market neutral strategy” were untrue statements of material fact and omitted 

material information because the Fund’s investment strategy was inconsistent with market 
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neutrality, and instead was highly correlated, in the negative, to a rapidly rising equity market, 

which was likely to eviscerate Fund capital and cause severe losses for Fund investors. 

B. Statements Regarding the Fund’s Options Strategies and Risks 

133. The “Options Risk” section in the Fund’s November 1, 2014 Prospectus, stated in 

pertinent part: 

There are risks associated with the sale and purchase of call and put options.  As 
the seller (writer) of a covered call option, the Fund assumes the risk of a decline 
in the market price of the underlying security below the purchase price of the 
underlying security less the premium received, and gives up the opportunity for 
gain on the underlying security above the exercise option price.  As the buyer of a 
put or call option, the Fund risks losing the entire premium invested in the option 
if the Fund does not exercise the option.  As a seller (writer) of a put option, the 
Fund will lose money if the value of the security falls below the strike price. 

134. The same disclosure was then repeated in the following Offering Documents: 

Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2014; Registration Statement dated November 13, 

2014; Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; and 

Registration Statement dated November 7, 2016. 

135. The statements referenced above in ¶¶133-34, that the Fund was a “seller (writer) 

of a covered call option” were untrue statements of material fact and omitted material information 

rendering the statements misleading because the exclusive discussion of covered option risk, and 

the omission of uncovered option risk, communicated that the Fund did not write uncovered 

options.  Contrary to the statements, however, as alleged herein, the Fund utilized an uncovered 

call options strategy and subjected the Fund to unlimited risk.  Additionally, the statements 

referenced above were misleading because they failed to disclose the substantial, and potentially 

unlimited, risk of loss associated with the Fund’s uncovered call option strategy. 
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136. The Fund’s Prospectuses were included in a single document along with the 

prospectuses of many other funds in the Catalyst family of mutual funds.  For example, the 

Fund’s November 1, 2014 Prospectus was included in a single document with twenty other 

Catalyst mutual funds, including funds that had more aggressive investment objectives than the 

Catalyst Futures Fund, such as the Catalyst Macro Strategy Fund, the Aggressive Growth Fund, 

and the Dynamic Alpha Fund.  Accordingly, the Fund’s Prospectuses contained sections that 

were intended to cover all twenty-one funds listed, such as how to buy shares and how to redeem 

shares. 

137. The Statement of Additional Information (SAI) was a section that applied to each 

of the listed funds, and within that section was the “Additional Information About Investments 

and Risks” section.  The Fund’s SAI incorporated into the November 1, 2014 Prospectus stated, 

in pertinent part: “Each Fund may also write call options and put options on stocks only if they 

are covered, as described below, and such options must remain covered so long as the Fund is 

obligated as a writer.”  The SAI also stated that a position is covered, “if the Fund either owns 

the underlying security or has an absolute and immediate right (such as a call with the same or a 

later expiration date) to acquire that security.” 

138. Identical representations were made in the following Offering Documents: 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; and Prospectus dated 

April 6, 2017. 

139. The statements referenced above in ¶¶137-38, that the Fund “may also write call 

options and put options on stocks only if they are covered” and that such options “must remain 

covered” were untrue statements of material fact and omitted material information because the 

Fund utilized an uncovered call options strategy, which was wholly inconsistent and contrary to 
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the statements that calls must be covered, and subjected the Fund to potentially unlimited risk of 

loss. 

140. Several paragraphs after the statements referenced above in ¶¶137-38, the SAI 

stated, in pertinent part: “A Fund may write only call options that are ‘covered’ or for which the 

Fund has segregated liquid assets equal to the exercise liability of the option that are adjusted 

daily to the option’s current market value.” 

141. This disclosure was repeated in the: November 1, 2014 Prospectus; Summary 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2014; Registration Statement dated November 13, 2014; 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; Prospectus 

dated November 1, 2016; Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; Registration Statement 

dated November 7, 2016; Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; Summary Prospectus dated April 6, 

2017; and the Registration Statement dated April 13, 2017. 

142. The statements referenced above in ¶¶140-41, that a fund “may write only call 

options that are ‘covered’ or for which the Fund has segregated liquid assets equal to the exercise 

liability of the option that are adjusted daily to the option’s current market value” were untrue 

statements of material and omitted material information because the Fund wrote uncovered calls 

and did not segregate liquid assets equal to the exercise liability of the option.  Indeed, the 

Fund’s massive uncovered call exposure subjected it to unlimited risk such that the Fund did not 

have sufficient assets to fully protect against its risk exposure.  The statement referenced above 

discussing the segregation of liquid assets was also misleading because the language of the 

Prospectus indicates that it did not apply to the Fund.  Specifically, the SAI states that the 

“Additional Information About Investments and Risks” section did not apply if an item was 
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“restricted by the fundamental policies of any Fund” and the writing of uncovered call options 

was contrary to the Fund’s investment objective of capital preservation. 

C. Statements Regarding Risk Management 

143. The Offering Documents also highlighted the Fund’s purportedly robust risk 

management procedures, which the Fund claimed minimized risks for its investors and mitigated 

the extent of any losses.   

144. The Prospectus dated November 1, 2014 stated, in pertinent part: 

The Fund places a strong focus on risk management that is intended to provide 
consistency of returns and to mitigate the extent of losses.  Positions are entered 
on a continuous basis across different option exercise prices and expiration 
months.  Supported by sophisticated options analysis software, the Fund employs 
strict risk management procedures to adjust portfolio exposure as necessitated 
by changing market conditions. 

145. This disclosure was repeated in the following Offering Documents: Summary 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2014; Registration Statement dated November 13, 2014; 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2015; Prospectus 

dated November 1, 2016; Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; Registration Statement 

dated November 7, 2016; Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; Summary Prospectus dated April 6, 

2017; and the Registration Statement dated April 13, 2017. 

146. The statements referenced above in ¶¶144-45, that the Fund “places a strong focus 

on risk management that is intended to provide consistency of returns and to mitigate the extent 

of losses” and that “the Fund employs strict risk management procedures to adjust portfolio 

exposure as necessitated by changing market conditions” were untrue statements of material fact 

and omitted material information rendering the statements misleading, because: (a) the Fund was 

unable to ensure meaningful risk controls or loss mitigation due to the potentially unlimited risk 

involved with the uncovered call options strategy employed by the Fund; (b) the various hedging 

Case 2:17-cv-02565-ADS-GRB   Document 61   Filed 03/30/18   Page 48 of 63 PageID #: 667



 

- 42 - 

activities employed by the Fund were themselves a source of significant risk for Fund investors 

and significantly increased the extent of losses in the event of a rapidly rising equity market; 

(c) according to an interview of Defendant Szilagyi, the losses experienced in February 2017 and 

onward, approaching 21%, were “nothing unusual from our standpoint except the attention it’s 

getting,” signaling that such losses reasonably could have been expected and the Fund did not 

have adequate risk controls as disclosed; and (d) due to the size of the Fund, and the fact that it 

controlled nearly the entire options market on many S&P 500 futures in which it traded, it was 

unable to adjust its portfolio exposure as necessitated by changing market conditions. 

147. The Prospectuses dated November 1, 2014, November 1, 2015, November 1, 

2016 and April 6, 2017, in the section entitled “Additional Information about the Fund’s 

Investment Strategies and Related Risks,” made a similar disclosure, stating, in pertinent part: 

The Fund uses an extensive historical database of stock index price movement to 
assist in determining high probability exercise prices at which to enter option 
spreads.  In addition, the Fund employs various technical analyses including 
studies of price, volume, momentum and sentiment to further optimize position 
entries.  The Fund regularly evaluates market volatility and other technical 
behavior and adapts the strategy’s entry, adjustment, and position sizing criteria to 
current market conditions  The Fund places a strong focus on risk management 
intended to provide consistency of returns and to mitigate the extent of losses.  
Positions are entered on a continuous basis across different option exercise prices 
and expiration months.  Supported by sophisticated options analysis software, the 
Fund employs strict risk management procedures to adjust portfolio exposure 
as necessitated by changing market conditions. 

148. The statements referenced above in ¶147, that the Fund “places a strong focus on 

risk management that is intended to provide consistency of returns and to mitigate the extent of 

losses” and that “the Fund employs strict risk management procedures to adjust portfolio 

exposure as necessitated by changing market conditions” were untrue statements of material fact 

and omitted material information rendering the statements misleading, because: (a) the Fund was 

unable to ensure meaningful risk controls or loss mitigation due to the potentially unlimited risk 
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involved with the uncovered call options strategy employed by the Fund; (b) the various hedging 

activities employed by the Fund were themselves a source of significant risk for Fund investors 

and significantly increased the extent of losses in the event of a rapidly rising equity market; 

(c) according to an interview of Defendant Szilagyi, the losses experienced in February 2017 and 

onward, approaching 21%, were “nothing unusual from our standpoint except the attention it’s 

getting,” signaling that such losses reasonably could have been expected and the Fund did not 

have adequate risk controls as disclosed; and (d) due to the size of the Fund, and the fact that it 

controlled nearly the entire options market on many S&P 500 futures in which it traded, it was 

unable to adjust its portfolio exposure as necessitated by changing market conditions. 

149. The Fund’s Annual Reports also emphasized that these risk management 

strategies allowed the Fund to mitigate its losses to no more than 8%.  For example, the Annual 

Report dated September 9, 2015, stated, in pertinent part: 

Unfortunately, the mean reversion of volatility that followed October’s spike was 
accompanied by not just a “normal” price rebound but a parabolic advance 
covering more than 10% in the space of 5 weeks. For perspective, this represents 
an annualized compound return of more than 160%.  Because the Fund is 
consciously positioned to accept upside risk in exchange for eliminating most 
downside exposure, this is the worst scenario for our strategy. The Fund suffered 
a drawdown of more than 8% during this time. While disappointing, there were 
two positives to this period. One, the Fund’s risk controls were successful in 
limiting the drawdown to roughly 8% which is the number they are designed to 
control to. Second, the extreme nature of the price advance provided a real time 
stress test to our position management protocols. From that experience we were 
able to make some modifications that I believe can improve performance in 
future, like environments. 

150. The statements referenced above in ¶149, that the Fund “the Fund’s risk controls 

were successful in limiting the drawdown to roughly 8% which is the number they are designed 

to control to” and that the Fund was “able to make some modifications that . . . can improve 

performance in future, like environments” were untrue statements of material fact and omitted 

facts rendering the statements misleading, because: (a) the Fund was unable to ensure 
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meaningful risk controls or loss mitigation due to the potentially unlimited risk involved with the 

uncovered call options strategy employed by the Fund; (b) the various hedging activities 

employed by the Fund were themselves a source of significant risk for Fund investors and 

significantly increased the extent of losses in the event of a rapidly rising equity market; (c) the 

Fund’s investment strategy was highly correlated to a rapidly rising equity market which was 

likely to eviscerate Fund capital and cause severe losses for Fund investors; (d) according to an 

interview of Defendant Szilagyi, the losses experienced in February 2017 and onward, 

approaching 21%, were “nothing unusual from our standpoint except the attention it’s getting,” 

signaling that such losses reasonably could have been expected and the Fund did not have 

adequate risk controls as disclosed; and (e) due to the size of the Fund, and the fact that it 

controlled nearly the entire options market on S&P 500 futures, it was unable to adjust its 

portfolio exposure as necessitated by changing market conditions. 

151. The Fund’s Annual Report dated September 8, 2016, stated that the Fund’s risk 

management strategies continued to be effective, stating, in pertinent part: 

Following both corrections the S&P experienced 10-15% snap back rallies within 
a 4-6 week period, a pattern which has become common to the current bull 
market. Because the Fund is consciously positioned to accept upside risk in 
exchange for eliminating most downside exposure, this is the worst scenario for 
our strategy. Last year I described how similar price action (Q4 of CY2014) lead 
to an 8% drawdown for the fund. I also reported that “the extreme nature of the 
price advance provided a real time stress test to our position management 
protocols. From that experience we were able to make some modifications that I 
believe can improve performance in future, like environments”. I am pleased to 
report that although the two FY2016 snapback rallies actually exceeded the prior 
year’s occurrence in both magnitude and duration, the Fund was able to limit 
drawdowns to 1.5 and 4.6 percent respectively. 

152. The statements referenced above in ¶151, that the Fund was “able to make some 

modifications that . . . can improve performance in future, like environments” and that the Fund 

“was able to limit drawdowns to 1.5 and 4.6 percent respectively” were untrue statements of 
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material fact and omitted material facts rendering the statements misleading, because: (a) the 

Fund was unable ensure meaningful risk controls or loss mitigation due to the potentially 

unlimited risk involved with the uncovered call options strategy employed by the Fund; (b) the 

various hedging activities employed by the Fund were themselves a source of significant risk for 

Fund investors and significantly increased the extent of losses in the event of a rapidly rising 

equity market; (c) the Fund’s investment strategy was highly correlated to a rapidly rising equity 

market which was likely to eviscerate Fund capital and cause severe losses for Fund investors; 

(d) according to an interview of Defendant Szilagyi, the losses experienced in February 2017 and 

onward, approaching 21%, were “nothing unusual from our standpoint except the attention it’s 

getting,” signaling that such losses reasonably could have been expected and the Fund did not 

have adequate risk controls as disclosed; and (e) due to the size of the Fund, and the fact that it 

controlled nearly the entire options market on S&P 500 futures, it was unable to adjust its 

portfolio exposure as necessitated by changing market conditions. 

D. Statements Regarding Past Performance 

153. The Offering Documents contained untrue statements of material fact and omitted 

material facts about the Fund’s past performance rendering those statements misleading.  For 

example, the Offering Documents highlighted the returns of the Fund that pre-dated its existence 

as a mutual fund, and covered the period when it existed as a hedge fund, as stated in pertinent 

part, as follows: 
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154. The following Offering Documents contain past return results for Harbor Assets: 

Prospectus dated November 1, 2014, Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2014, Registration 

Statement dated November 13, 2014, Semi-Annual Report filed March 11, 2015, Annual Report 

filed September 9, 2015, Prospectus dated November 1, 2015, Summary Prospectus dated 

November 1, 2015; Semi-Annual Report filed March 10, 2016; Annual Report filed September 

8, 2016; Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; Summary Prospectus dated November 1, 2016; 

Registration Statement dated November 7, 2016; Semi-Annual Report filed March 10, 2017; 

Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; Summary Prospectus dated April 6, 2017; and the Registration 

Statement dated April 13, 2017. 

155. The statements referenced above in ¶¶153-54, regarding the Fund’s performance 

as a hedge fund, were untrue statements of material fact and omitted facts rendering the 

statements misleading, because: (a) the predecessor hedge fund managed only a small fraction of 

the assets managed by the Fund which caused the hedge fund performance figures to be an 

unreliable indicator of performance; (b) the large amount of options traded by the Fund consisted 

of a huge portion of the outstanding options market for those securities such that the hedge fund 

results were not an accurate indicator for performance; and (c) the Fund employed different 

strategies throughout its existence, both as a hedge fund and once it converted into a mutual 
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fund, making the numbers unreliable and misleading, as they were the product of different 

strategies.  Additionally, the accuracy of the historical figures are questionable since the hedge 

fund was not subject to SEC regulations and the results were not subject to SEC review.  Indeed, 

prior to becoming a mutual fund, the Harbor Assets hedge fund was not required to make the 

same periodic SEC filings that is required of a mutual fund. 

156. Market observers questioned the validity and reliability of these past performance 

figures.  For example, Paul Jacobs of Palisades Hudson Financial Group LLC, commenting on 

the Fund after its February 2017 collapse, pointed out: 

While Catalyst offers performance history as far back as 2005, the fund only 
became a publicly traded mutual fund in 2013.  Before that, it was a private hedge 
fund. The data prior to 2013 is weak, largely because hedge funds are not required 
to publish detailed information on their portfolios. 

* * * 

In addition, Catalyst could have had other private funds that performed poorly, 
but whose track record the company is not required to disclose alongside that of 
the fund that was opened to the public. 

157. Similarly, John Rekenthaler of Morningstar, Inc., in a February 21, 2017 article 

discussing the Fund’s February 2017 collapse, stated that, “Hedge funds do not publish their 

portfolios, and, without such information, there’s no reasonable way of conducting performance 

attribution: what risks the funds assumed, what went right for management . . . and what could 

have gone wrong.” 

E. Omissions Regarding Derivatives and Leverage Risk 

158. Even though the Fund was subjected to both derivatives and leverage risk as a 

result of the unlimited exposure associated with its uncovered calls, the Catalyst Futures Fund 

failed to make specific risk disclosures concerning the risks associated with trading derivative 

securities, including the inherent leverage embedded in such securities.  The omission of these 
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important risks was material and rendered the Offering Documents misleading because the 

Fund’s risks were understated. 

159. In stark contrast, the Offering Documents for other funds within the Catalyst 

Funds family that utilized similar options strategies to that of the Catalyst Futures Fund 

contained specific disclosures regarding “Derivatives Risk” and “Leverage Risk.”  For example, 

the Catalyst Hedged Commodity Strategy Fund, which also traded futures contracts in 

commodities such as corn, gold, and oil, included the following disclosures regarding 

Derivatives Risk and Leverage Risk: 

(a) The “Derivatives Risk” disclosure provided in pertinent part: 

Even a small investment in derivatives (which include options, futures, and other 
transactions) may give rise to leverage risk (which can increase volatility and 
magnify the Fund’s potential for loss) and can have a significant impact on the 
Fund’s performance.  Derivatives are also subject to credit risk (the counterparty 
may default) and liquidity risk (the Fund may not be able to sell the security or 
otherwise exit the contract in a timely manner). 

(b) The “Leverage Risk” disclosure provided in pertinent part: 

Using derivatives like commodity futures and options to increase the Fund’s 
combined long and short exposure creates leverage, which can magnify the 
Fund’s potential for gain or loss and, therefore, amplify the effects of market 
volatility on the Fund’s share price. 

160. The Catalyst Hedged Commodity Strategy Fund engaged in active trading similar 

to the Fund.  Similarly, it sought to profit from volatility trading, trend following and premium 

collection.  Nevertheless, that fund had stronger risk management disclosures, and did not list 

“capital preservation” or “low volatility” as investment objectives.  Instead, that fund’s stated 

investment objective was “capital appreciation uncorrelated to global equity or commodity 

markets.” 
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VI. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

161. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of all persons or entities who purchased or otherwise acquired 

shares of the Catalyst Futures Fund in continuous offerings pursuant to registration statements 

and prospectuses for the Fund filed on November 1, 2014, November 13, 2014, November 1, 

2015, November 5, 2015, November 1, 2016, November 3, 2016, April 6, 2017 and April 13, 

2017, and were damaged thereby (the Class).  Excluded from the Class are Defendants and their 

immediate families; the officers and directors of the Fund, at all relevant times; any firm, trust, 

corporation, or other entity in which any defendant has or had a controlling interest; and the legal 

representatives, affiliates, heirs, successors-in-interest, or assigns of any such excluded person or 

entity. 

162. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  As of December 31, 2016, there were over 120 million HFXAX shares, 39 

million HFXCX shares, and 214 million HFXIX shares outstanding.  While the exact number of 

Class members is unknown to Plaintiffs at this time and can only be ascertained through 

appropriate discovery, Plaintiffs believe that there are hundreds or thousands of members in the 

proposed Class.  Record owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records 

maintained by the Fund or its agents and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, 

using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions. 

163. Common questions of law and fact predominate and include: (i) whether 

Defendants violated the Securities Act; (ii) whether Defendants omitted and/or misrepresented 

material facts; and (iii) the extent and appropriate measure of damages. 
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164. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law that is complained of herein. 

165. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and have retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. 

166. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.  Furthermore, as 

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually 

redress the wrongs done to them.  There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as 

a class action. 

COUNT I 

For Violation of §11 of the Securities Act 
Against the Trust, the Distributor and the Trustee Defendants 

167. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above. 

168. This Count is brought pursuant to §11 of the Securities Act on behalf of plaintiffs 

and the Class against the Trust, the Distributor and the Trustee Defendants. 

169. The Registration Statements were inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue 

statements of material fact, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made 

not misleading, and omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein. 

170. The Trust is the registrant for the shares of the Fund, and as such is strictly liable 

for the false statements contained in the Registration Statements.  The Distributor, as the Fund’s 

underwriter, and the Trustee Defendants who signed the Registration Statements, were 

responsible for the contents and dissemination of the Registration Statements. 
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171. None of the Defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or 

possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Registration 

Statements were true and without omissions of any material facts and were not misleading. 

172. By reasons of the conduct herein alleged, each Defendant violated, and/or 

controlled a person who violated, §11 of the Securities Act. 

173. Plaintiffs acquired shares of the Fund during the Relevant Period and pursuant to 

the Registration Statements. 

174. Plaintiffs and the Class have sustained damages.  The value of the shares of the 

Fund has declined substantially subsequent to and due to Defendants’ violations. 

175. At the times they purchased shares of the Fund, Plaintiffs and other members of 

the Class were without knowledge of the facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein.  

Less than one year had elapsed from the time that Plaintiffs discovered or reasonably could have 

discovered the facts upon which this complaint is based to the time of filing of the initial 

complaint in this action.  Less than three years elapsed between the time that the securities upon 

which this Count is brought were offered to the public and the time of the filing of the initial 

complaint. 

COUNT II 

For Violation of §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act 
Against All Defendants 

176. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above. 

177. This Count is brought pursuant to §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act on behalf of 

Plaintiffs and the Class against all Defendants. 

178. Defendants were sellers and offerors and/or solicitors of purchasers of the shares 

of the Fund offered pursuant to the Registration Statements, Prospectuses and other Offering 
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Documents and were motivated by a desire to serve their own financial interests or those of the 

Fund or Catalyst Advisors. 

179. The Prospectuses contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted to state 

other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and omitted to state material 

facts required to be stated therein.  Catalyst Advisors’, the Individual Defendants’ and the 

Distributor’s actions of solicitation included participating in the preparation of the false and 

misleading Prospectuses and participating in marketing the shares of the Fund to investors. 

180. Defendants owed to the purchasers of Fund shares, including Plaintiffs and other 

Class members, the duty to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the statements 

contained in the Prospectuses and corresponding supplements and amendments to ensure that 

such statements were true and that there was no omission to state a material fact required to be 

stated in order to make the statements contained therein not misleading.  Defendants, in the 

exercise of reasonable care, should have known of the misstatements and omissions contained in 

the Prospectuses as set forth above. 

181. Plaintiffs and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired shares 

of the Fund pursuant to the defective Prospectuses.  Plaintiffs did not know, nor in the exercise 

of reasonable diligence could they have known, of the untruths and omissions contained in the 

Offering Documents for the Funds. 

182. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, Defendants violated, and/or controlled a 

person who violated, §12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs and members of the 

Class who hold shares of the Fund have the right to rescind and recover the consideration paid 

for their shares of the Fund and hereby elect to rescind and tender those shares to the Defendants 

Case 2:17-cv-02565-ADS-GRB   Document 61   Filed 03/30/18   Page 59 of 63 PageID #: 678



 

- 53 - 

sued herein.  Plaintiffs and Class members who have sold their shares of the Fund are entitled to 

rescissory damages. 

COUNT III 

For Violation of §15 of the Securities Act 
Against Catalyst Advisors and the Individual Defendants 

183. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation contained above. 

184. This Count is brought pursuant to §15 of the Securities Act on behalf of Plaintiffs 

and the Class against Catalyst Advisors and the Individual Defendants. 

185. Each of the Individual Defendants was a control person of the Fund by virtue of 

his position as a director, Trustee and/or senior officer of the Fund, the Trust or Catalyst 

Advisors.  The Individual Defendants each had a series of direct and/or indirect business and/or 

personal relationships with other Trustees, directors and/or officers and/or major shareholders of 

the Fund. 

186. Catalyst Advisors managed and controlled the business affairs of the Fund and 

was a control person of the Fund.  Catalyst Advisors and its directors and/or officers each had a 

series of direct and/or indirect business and/or personal relationships with the Trustees, directors 

and/or officers and/or major shareholders of the Fund. 

187. Each of the defendants named herein was each a culpable participant in the 

violations of §§11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act alleged in Counts I and II above, based on 

their having signed the Registration Statements and/or having otherwise participated in the 

process which allowed the sale of the shares of the Fund to be successfully completed.  By 

reason of such conduct, the defendants named in this Count are liable pursuant to §15 of the 

Securities Act. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment as follows: 

A. Determining that this action is a proper class action, designating Plaintiffs as Lead 

Plaintiffs and certifying Plaintiffs as class representatives under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure and Plaintiffs’ counsel as Lead Counsel; 

B. Awarding damages and interest; 

C. Awarding rescission and/or a rescissory measure of damages; 

D. Awarding Plaintiffs’ reasonable costs, including attorneys’ fees; and 

E. Awarding such equitable/injunctive or other relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury. 

DATED:  March 30, 2018 ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 
 & DOWD LLP 
SAMUEL H. RUDMAN 
EVAN J. KAUFMAN 
WILLIAM J. GEDDISH 

 

/s/ Evan J. Kaufman 
 EVAN J. KAUFMAN 
 

58 South Service Road, Suite 200 
Melville, NY  11747 
Telephone:  631/367-7100 
631/367-1173 (fax) 
srudman@rgrdlaw.com 
ekaufman@rgrdlaw.com 
wgeddish@rgrdlaw.com 
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I, Evan J. Kaufman, hereby certify that on March 30, 2018, I authorized a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing document to be electronically filed with the Clerk of the Court using the 

CM/ECF system, which will send notification of such public filing to all registered participants as 

identified on the Notice of Electronic Filing and paper copies will be sent to those indicated as non-

registered participants on March 30, 2018. 

 

/s/ Evan J. Kaufman 
EVAN J. KAUFMAN 
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